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Section 4 of the Clayton Act' provides that

[any person who shall be injured in his business or property by reason
of anything forbidden in the antitrust laws may sue therefor. . . and shall
recover threefold the damages by him sustained, and the cost of suit,
including a reasonable attorney's fee.

The enactment of this statute, which authorized private treble damage
actions, has been liberally construed by the courts.' The private suit was
intended by Congress to serve the twofold purpose of encouraging those
injured to recover damages, and thus multiply the means of enforcing the
antitrust laws. The courts have commented favorably on this private rem-
edy on numerous occasions. In Flintkote Co. v. Lysfjord3 the Ninth Circuit
stated:

[A] niggardly construction of the treble damage provisions would do
violence to the clear intent of Congress. The private antitrust action is an
important and effective method of combatting unlawful and destructive
business practices. The private suitor complements the Government in
enforcing the antitrust laws. The treble damage provision was designed to
foster and stimulate the interest of private persons in maintaining a free
and competitive economy. Its efficacy should not be weakened by judicial
construction.

The Supreme Court has placed its imprimatur on the action by adding:
"In the face of such a policy [of placing the private antitrust litigant in a
most favorable position] this Court should not add requirements to bur-
den the private litigant beyond what is specifically set forth by Congress
in those laws."'

This goal may be laudatory when applied to hard-core horizontal price
fixing and group boycott cases. Indeed, the development of per se rules of
illegality undoubtedly has encouraged the bringing of private actions.5
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However, per se rules, and other procedural or substantive modifications
favoring the ultimate treble damage recovery by a plaintiff may create a
serious equitable imbalance. This is particularly so when such rules are
applied to distinguishable yet analogous factual situations. There, the pos-
sibilities of an unjust or windfall recovery warrant a more cautious ap-
proach. There, the need for predictability of result in common business
situations warrants careful analysis. Several courts have noted that the
"right which [the antitrust laws] give to a person to recover three-fold the
damages he has sustained, is an unusual one, the remedy is drastic, and
the Acts are to be strictly construed and not to be enlarged by construc-
tion."' The point was succinctly made in Milwaukee Towne Corp. v.
Loew's, Inc.7 where the court stated:

[Tihe possibility that the anti-trust laws might develop into a racketeer-
ing practice should not be enhanced .... It should not be made more
profitable than it is for a person to become the victim of a conspiracy in
restraint of trade.

One recent commentator has observed that the courts have encouraged
private suits while at the same time cautioning against potential abuses
engendered by the encouragement.' While this appears to be so, the Su-
preme Court has been generally consistent in providing aid, comfort and
encouragement to the private treble damage plaintiff? Rather than the
"charter of freedom" so eloquently described by Mr. Chief Justice
Hughes,"0 the development of the law has been essentially procrustean.
The end has in many instances been the product of a modification of the
means. Examples are numerous. The development and extension of per se
rules has contributed to imbalance." Redefinition of the language of the
Sherman and Clayton Acts has taken its toll, and has approached the
elimination of elements of the antitrust offenses. The inevitable result has

6. Image Sound Serv. Corp. v. Altec Serv. Corp., 148 F. Supp. 237, 239 (D. Mass. 1956),
quoting from Westor Theatres v. Warner Bros. Pictures, Inc., 41 F. Supp. 757, 762 (D.N.J.
1941). See La Chappelle v. United Shoe Mach. Corp., 13 F. Supp. 939 (D. Mass. 1936).
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been an increasing lack of predictability. The predictability of the outcome
of litigation has never been a science, much less an exact one. However, it
is desirable that businessmen be able to appreciate, at least in a rudimen-
tary way, the consequences of their acts. 3 Judge Wyzanski's definition of
predatory business practices as "not honestly industrial"" is as tautolo-
gous as Judge Hand's pronouncement that "no monopolist monopolizes
unconscious of what he is doing."' 5 Each begs the question.

Imbalance and lack of predictability have been particularly evident in
cases involving vertical resale price maintenance, territory and customer
restrictions and dealership cancellations or substitutions. In the resale
price maintenance area, the Colgate5 doctrine has been devoured by
United States v. Parke, Davis & Co.'7 Albrecht v. Herald Co. 8 has brought
further uncertainty to the Sherman Act in its redefinition of a "combina-
tion" as being different from the more traditional notion of conspiracy. In
the dealership cancellation cases, a commentator recently summed up his
analysis by remarking: "[W]hen all is said and done, the cases are a
hodge-podge, and predictability - the profound hope of all businessmen -
is less than perfect."'"

This article will analyze the recent development of two common types
of vertical restraint cases. First, it will discuss the role of subjective, intent
and market structure in evaluating distributor cancellation and substitu-
tion cases. Second, it will discuss the similar role of subjective intent in
evaluating vertically-imposed resale price maintenance cases. It is the con-
clusion of the author that because almost identical market behavior will
be determined lawful or unlawful as a result of inferences drawn from
circumstantial evidence of subjective intent, the greatest of caution should
be exercised by trial judges. Except in cases of clear predatory intent, or
where conduct is in furtherence of a per se unlawful plan, summary proce-

Problem, 44 ST. JoHN's L. REv. 529 (special ed. 1970). The "shared monopoly" concept is now
before the Federal Trade Commission in the cereal industry cases. See Kellogg Co., No. 8883
(F.T.C., Feb. 19, 1974). Another unresolved area involves attempts to monopolize under
section 2 of the Sherman Act. Compare Telex Corp. v. IBM, 367 F. Supp. 258, 342 (N.D. Okla.
1973) with Cornwell Quality Tools Co. v. C.T.S. Co., 446 F.2d 825, 832 (9th Cir. 1971) and
Lessig v. Tidewater Oil Co., 327 F.2d 459 (9th Cir. 1964), cert. denied, 377 U.S. 993 (1964).
For an analysis of section 2 and its considerable disarray, see Cooper, Attempts and Monopol-
ization: A Mildly Expansionary Answer to the Prophylactic Riddle of Section Two, 72 MICH.
L. Rav. 373 (1974). Additional inroads have been made by expanding the concept of "standing
to sue." See Perkins v. Standard Oil Co., 395 U.S. 642, 649 (1969).

13. See Greenberg, Unilateral Refusals To Deal, 42 A.B.A. ANTrmusT L.J. 305, 313 (1973).
14. Union Leader Corp. v. Newspapers of New England, Inc., 180 F. Supp. 125, 140 (D.
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16. United States v. Colgate & Co., 250 U.S. 300 (1919).
17. 362 U.S. 29 (1960).
18. 390 U.S. 145 (1968).
19. See Greenberg, supra note 13.
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dures should be encouraged to terminate the litigation. As stated in a
leading text:

Courts should not be blinded by unwarranted solicitude for plaintiffs in
treble damage actions. There can be no doubt that many such suits are
completely without merit and instituted in the hope that the defendants
would make a settlement rather than incur the expense of preparation and
trial. Undue judicial protection in such cases can only serve to impair the
dignity of our courts. When it becomes obvious that the particular private
case has no merit and that it is really an attempted 'shakedown' the
Courts should not hesitate to make short shrift of it.2

It is also the conclusion of the author that further relaxation of the
concept of "agreement" 2' or of the rules of evidence in relation thereto are
unwarranted. The Supreme Court's more recent pronouncements in this
area are difficult to justify and raise more questions than they answer.

I. DEALER CANCELLATION CASE IN THE WAKE OF Klor's. PER SE OR NOT PER
SE.

Concerted refusals to deal, or group boycotts, as they are often termed,
were considered unreasonable restraints of trade even before the effective
date of the Clayton Antitrust Act. In Eastern States Retail Lumber Deal-
ers' Ass'n v. United States,2 members of a retail lumber dealers associa-
tion engaged in a boycott of wholesalers who sold directly to consumers.
To enforce the boycott, the association circulated lists of the offending
direct-selling wholesalers. The Court, in finding the conduct in violation
of the Sherman Act, held that the conduct

takes the case out of those normal and usual agreements in aid of trade
and commerce which may be found not to be within the act and puts it
within the prohibited class of undue and unreasonable restraints.23

The Retail Lumber Dealers' case was foundational in the development
of the law of group boycotts, and was cited with approval in a number of
Supreme Court decisions. Its most influential progeny, however, was prob-
ably Fashion Originators' Guild of America, Inc. v. FTC.21 In that case the
Federal Trade Commission brought an action under section 5 of the Fed-
eral Trade Commission Act 25 for a decree ordering the respondent to cease
and desist from practices alleged to be "unfair methods of competition. ' 6

20. E. TIMBERLAKE, FEDERAL TREBLE DAMAGE ANTITRUST AcTIONS §302 (1965).
21. See section II, infra.
22. 234 U.S. 600 (1914).
23. Id. at 612-13.
24. 312 U.S. 457 (1941).
25. 15 U.S.C. §41 et seq. (1970).
26. 15 U.S.C. §45 (1970).
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Guild members, comprising a large segment of the women's garment in-
dustry, refused to sell to retailers who sold garments which were copies of
the "original creations" of Guild members. Retailers who yielded to Guild
pressure were listed on white cards. Retailers who did not were listed on
red cards. Both sets of cards were circulated to Guild members and no sales
were to be made to retailers who had been "red listed." Various policing
measures were also employed, including undercover shopping, fines and
threats. The Guild argued that the boycott measures were "reasonable and
necessary to protect the manufacturer, laborer, retailer and consumer
against the devastating evils growing from the pirating of original de-
signs." The Federal Trade Commission declined to hear much of the
evidence offered to support the reasonableness argument, and issued a
cease and desist order.2 8 In condemning the boycott as being a violation of
both section 1 of the Sherman Act and section 5 of the Federal Trade
Commission Act, the Supreme Court upheld the Commission's decision.
It noted that the purpose and object of the Guild was to destroy competi-
tion, and that

[u]nder these circumstances it was not error to refuse to hear the evi-
dence offered, for the reasonableness of the methods pursued by the com-
bination to accomplish its unlawful object is no more material than would
be reasonableness of the prices fixed by unlawful combination.2

Subsequent to Fashion Orginators' Guild, the Supreme Court decided
Associated Press v. United States.3 0 The by-laws of Associated Press pre-
vented members of the association from selling news to non-members, and
imposed discretionary membership standards on applicants engaged in
competition with existing members. The United States filed a bill for an
injunction and moved for summary judgment. In affirming the trial court's
order granting summary judgment and modified injunctive relief, the Su-
preme Court held:

The Sherman Act was specifically intended to prohibit independent busi-
nesses from becoming "associates" in a common plan which is bound to
reduce their competitor's opportunity to buy or sell the things in which
the groups compete.3 1

Although Fashion Originators' Guild and Associated Press found anti-
trust violations without considering proffered evidence of justification or

27. 312 U.S. at 467.
28. 28 F.T.C. 430 (1941).
29. 312 U.S. at 468. The Court also noted that the Guild engaged in a number of practices

not related to its fight against the copiests. The Guild prohibited, for example, advertising
and sales to certain classes of customers, and regulated discounts to customers.

30. 326 U.S. 1 (1945).
31. Id. at 15.
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reasonableness, they are not interpreted by the antitrust bar as establish-
ing a broad per se rule. Thus, the Attorney General's Committee Report
stated that group action coercing outside parties would likely be unreason-
able per se:

In the absence of conspiracy or combination, refusals to deal by individual
businesses are generally safe from antitrust. The free market ideal long
presupposed that a private merchant could develop business relationships
with whom he pleased. This principle the Supreme Court proclaimed in
the Colgate case. 3

1

In Klor's, Inc. v. Broadway-Hale Stores, Inc. ,3 the issue was put to rest.
The plaintiff, Klor's, operated a retail appliance store. Its next door neigh-
bor was a store operated by Broadway-Hale Stores. Both sold radios, tele-
vision sets, refrigerators and other home appliances. Klor's brought a tre-
ble damage action against Broadway-Hale Stores and eighteen manufac-
turers and distributors of household appliances. It claimed that Broadway-
Hale Stores had conspired with the manufacturers and distributors either
not to sell appliances to Klor's or to sell only on unfavorable terms. The
Supreme Court held that the trial court erred in granting summary judg-
ment on the ground that no "public wrong" could be shown. In so holding,
the Court stated:

Group boycotts or concerted refusals by traders to deal with other traders,
have long been held to be in the forbidden category. They have not been
saved by allegations that they were reasonable in the specific circumstan-
ces, nor by a failure to show that they "fixed or regulated prices, parcelled
out or limited production, or brought about a deterioration in quality."
Even when they operated to lower prices or temporarily to stimulate com-
petition they were banned.34

In Klor's, the announcement of a per se rule of illegality in boycott cases
was made in refutation of the defendants' argument that because Klor's
was but one of hundreds of appliance dealers, its demise would have no
effect on the competitive market. The Court held that the conduct alleged
in the complaint had a "monopolistic tendency," and that '[m]onopoly
can as surely thrive by the elimination of such small businessmen, one at
a time, as it can by driving them out in large groups."

A per se approach is useful if limited to conduct which has as its obvious
purpose and effect the stifling of competition. However, if the conduct
itself triggers the rule, irrespective of purpose and effect, intolerable results

32. REPORT OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL'S NATIONAL COMMITTEE TO STUDY THE ANTI-TRUST

LAWS 133-34 (1955).
33. 359 U.S. 207 (1959).
34. Id. at 212 (citations omitted).
35. Id. at 213. The per se approach to group boycott cases was reaffirmed in Radiant

Burners, Inc. v. Peoples Gas, Light & Coke Co., 364 U.S. 656 (1961).
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may occur.3" Where purpose and effect are part of the inquiry, however, the
difficulty is to determine the end result without making the in-depth anal-
ysis required in a rule of reason case.

Klor's involved refusals to sell by a multiplicity of suppliers and a result-
ing inability by the plaintiff to remain in business. If Klor's were limited
to fact situations where alternative sources of supply are unavailable, the
application of its rule of per se illegality would be understandable. How-
ever, an alternative ground of illegality stated in both Klor's and the subse-
quently decided case of Radiant Burners Inc. v. Peoples Gas, Light & Coke
Co. ,3 was that the participants in the concerted refusal to deal "had given
up their freedom to sell" and thus interfered with the "natural flow" 3 of

commerce. Had the alternative ground been viewed as the law, a true per
se rule would clearly have evolved. If the "giving up the freedom to sell"
was sufficient concerted action to trigger the rule, the very creation of an
exclusive distributorship would be unlawful. Surely, an agreement by a
supplier and a new distributor for the supplier not to deal with another
distributor would fit the mold of per se illegality. The same result would
seem to be required where a manufacturer established a wholly-owned
subsidiary, agreed to deal exclusively with the subsidiary, and thereupon
cancelled the independent distributor.3 9 However, it is obvious that in an
exclusive distributorship situation, a per se analysis is unjustified. First,
the Supreme Court announced in 1919 in United States v. Colgate & Co:0

In the absence of any purpose to create or maintain a monopoly, the act
does not restrict the long recognized right of a trader or manufacturer
engaged in an entirely private business freely to exercise his own indepen-

36. See von Kalinowski, The Per Se Doctrine-An Emerging Philosophy of Antitrust Law,
11 U.C.L.A.L. REv. 569, 583 (1964).

37. 364 U.S. 656 (1961).
38. 359 U.S. at 213.
39. While the intracorporate conspiracy doctrine is beyond the scope of this article, it is

another example of procrustean legal analysis. See Willis and Pitofsky, Antitrust Conse-
quences of Using Corporate Subsidiaries, 43 N.Y.U.L. REv. 20 (1968); Cooper, supra note 12,
at 411-12. The intracorporate conspiracy doctrine applies the full sweep of section 1 of the
Sherman Act to "agreements" between technically separate but commonly owned corporate
entities operated on a unified basis. The doctrine may be evidence of a desire to find a means
of assessing antitrust liability for anticompetitive acts where the elements of a section 2 claim
are nevertheless lacking. Notwithstanding the apparent endorsement of the doctrine by the
Supreme Court, lower courts have on occasion refused to find liability if the "agreement" or
"combination" is between a manufacturer and its wholly-owned subsidiary operated as a
single business unit. Compare Perma Life Mufflers, Inc. v. International Parts Corp., 392 U.S.
134, 141-42 (1968) with Joseph E. Seagram & Sons, Inc. v. Hawaiian Oke & Liquors, Ltd.,
416 F.2d 71, 81-82 (9th Cir. 1969), cert. denied, 396 U.S. 1062 (1970) and Beckman v. Walter
Kidde & Co., 316 F. Supp. 1321, 1326 (E.D.N.Y. 1970), afl'd, 451 F.2d 593 (2d Cir. 1971). Cf.
Knutson v. The Daily Review, Inc., 5 TRADE REG. REp. (1974 Trade Cas.) 75,273 (N.D. Cal.
Sept. 23, 1974).

40. 250 U.S. 300, 307 (1919).
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dent discretion as to parties with whom he will deal. And, of course, he
may announce in advance the circumstances under which he will refuse
to sell.

Second, there are numerous situations where it is "the essence of compe-
tition"" to change dealers. A new dealer may bring additional capital and
skill to bear, thus increasing the vigor of competition in the market. The
mere possibility of a switch in dealers itself should be of competitive value
in that it should increase the desire of the existing dealer to do a better
job in representing and selling the supplier's line of products.,

A per se approach to distributorship substitutions and cancellations is
inappropriate for additional reasons. In every case, where an exclusive
distributorship has changed hands there is concerted activity in the sense
that a manufacturer has agreed with the new distributor to appoint-the
new distributor and not to deal further with the predecessor. In every case,
competition has been diminished in the sense that the predecessor distrib-
utor is no longer a competitive force in the distribution of the manufac-
turer's products. In this sense then, a small businessman may be elimi-
nated just as was done in Klor's and the same incipiency toward monopoly
may be present. However, as in Klor's, the incipiency must be assumed to
reach the conclusion that it is present. There was no showing that by the
elimination of Klor's, a trend toward concentration was begun. In each
situation where a distributorship is cancelled, the economic effect on the
cancelled distributor may easily be as devastating as was the effect on
Klor's. However, if legality or illegality turns on purpose and effect, the
entire fabric of the transaction should be subject to inquiry, and a per se
rule would not result in any judicial saving of time. It would exist in name
only.

Nevertheless, an extension of the Klor's per se rule to distributorship
substitution and termination cases has been often attempted. It has met
with varying degrees of success. For example, in South End Oil Co. v.
Texaco, Inc. , the Court announced the following dicta:

Decisions of the Supreme Court and lower federal courts have fully de-
scribed the scope of "unlawful conduct or agreement." There is no doubt
that a refusal to deal, brought about by agreement between competing
manufacturers, or between a manufacturer and one or more distributors,
violates §1 of the Sherman Act.

41. Joseph E. Seagram & Sons, Inc. v. Hawaiian Oke & Liquors, Ltd., 416 F.2d 71, 78
(9th Cir. 1969), cert. denied, 396 U.S. 1062 (1970).

42. However, a history of dealer terminations by a supplier may inhibit current dealers
from making capital improvements. This is a matter only peripherally relevant to antitrust
policy. Many dealer contracts protect against cancellation except for specified cause. See 15
GLICKMAN, Busnss ORGANIZATIONS §9.01 (1974).

43. 237 F. Supp. 650, 653 (N.D. Ill. 1965).
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In Hub Auto Supply, Inc. v. Automatic Radio Manufacturing Co.," the
plaintiff was a distributor of defendant's automobile radios. Defendant
informed plaintiff that a new line of radios would not be made available.
The complaint alleged that the defendant "conspired and combined" with
two of the plaintiffs competitors and that the principal objective of the
combination was to restrict the plaintiff. The defendant argued that be-
cause it had the right to select the parties with whom it will deal or even
to grant an exclusive distributorship, the complaint did not state a claim
upon which relief could be granted. It also argued that plaintiff could sell
radios of other manufacturers, and that the automobile radio business was
highly competitive, and that there was no basis for any inference that the
supply or prices of radios would be affected. In denying defendant's motion
to dismiss, the court stated:

In the light of the decision in Klor's, Inc v. Broadway-Hale Stores, Inc.,
359 U.S. 207, 79 S.Ct. 705, 3 L.Ed. 2d 741, this argument must be rejected.
There several manufacturers and distributors conspired with a single com-
petitor of plaintiff either not to sell to plaintiff or to sell only on unfavora-
ble terms. The conspiracy alleged here is similar in nature. It may not be
so severe in its effects since it involves only a single manufacturer and two
competitors of plaintiff, but its tendency is the same. It destroys plaintiff's
ability to compete for customers for defendant's products, and thus drives
it out of business as a dealer in these products, at least as to current
models. Hence it tends to interfere with the natural flow of interstate
commerce and violates the act even though there may be no public injury
in the sense that destruction of plaintiff's business may make little differ-
ence to the economy as a whole.' 5

If this was to be taken literally, it would be a per se violation for a
manufacturer to agree with a prospective distributor to deal with the pro-
spective distributor to the exclusion of an existing distributor. The fact
that the "destruction of plaintiff's business may make little difference to
the economy as a whole""6 would not be considered relevant.

Part of the uncertainty as to the extent of Klor's has been put to rest by
United States v. Arnold, Schwinn & Co."7 There, the Supreme Court made
the following statement on the right of a manufacturer to enter into an
exclusive dealing arrangement with its dealers. The Court stated:

At the other extreme a manufacturer of a product other and equivalent
brands of which are readily available in the market may select his custom-
ers, and for this purpose he may 'franchise' certain dealers to whom, alone,

44. 173 F. Supp. 396 (D. Mass. 1959).
45. Id. at 397. Accord, De Filippo v. Ford Motor Co., 5 TRADE REG. REP, (1974 Trade Cas.)

75,210 (E.D. Pa. June 14, 1974).
46. 173 F. Supp. at 397.
47. 388 U.S. 365 (1967).
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he will sell his goods. Cf. United States v. Colgate & Co., 250 U.S. 300. If
the restraint stops at that point - if nothing more is involved than verti-
cal "confinement" of the manufacturer's own sales of the merchandise to
selected dealers, and if competitive products are readily available to oth-
ers, the restrictions, on these facts alone, would not violate the Sherman
Act.'"

It remained unclear, however, whether the "if nothing more is involved"
language included situations in which the manufacturer has agreed with
other dealers not to appoint more dealers, or where the manufacturer has
terminated a dealer pursuant to an agreement with the dealer's successor.
In Colgate the Supreme Court stated:

In the absence of any purpose to create or maintain a monopoly, the act
does not restrict the long-recognized right of a trader or manufacturer
engaged in an entirely private business, freely to exercise his own indepen-
dent discretion as to parties with whom he will deal."

Considering the citation of Colgate by the Supreme Court in Schwinn, one
wonders whether the Court was also engrafting the limitations of Parke,
Davis. There, the defendant attempted to exercise sufficient care to stay
within the Colgate doctrine, and to maintain resale prices by unilaterally
refusing to do business with non-complying customers. Parke, Davis cut
off direct sales to certain resale druggists when their discounting was called
to its attention by competing druggists. Parke, Davis also, however, in-
duced wholesalers to stop selling to the offending retailers, and then se-
cured the agreement of a number of retailers that each would follow its
announced resale price policy. Finally, Parke, Davis permitted offending
retailers to again purchase its products once they had indicated a willing-
ness to adhere to the pricing policy. The Supreme Court found that Parke,
Davis had "plainly exceeded the limitations of the Colgate doctrine," 0 and
stated:

[W]hatever uncertainty previously existed as to the scope of the Colgate
doctrine, Bausch & Lo b and Beech-Nut plainly fashioned its dimensions
as meaning no more than that a simple refusal to sell to customers who
will not resell at prices suggested by the seller is permissible under the
Sherman Act. In other words, an unlawful combination is not just such
as arises from a price maintenance agreement, express or implied; such a
combination is also organized if the producer secures adherence to his
suggested prices by means which go beyond his mere declination to sell
to a customer who will not observe his announced policy . . ..

When the manufacturer's actions, as here, go beyond mere announce-
ment of his policy and the simple refusal to deal, and he employs other

48. Id. at 376.
49. 250 U.S. at 307.
50. 362 U.S. at 45.
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means which effect adherence to his resale prices, ... he has put together
a combination in violation of the Sherman Act.5"

On the other hand, Schwinn may be read as declaring illegal only those
agreements which are infected with resale price maintenance, customer
selection or territorial exclusivity - the facts present in the decision.5"

The decisions since Schwinn have generally supported the view that it
is not unlawful for a manufacturer to terminate its relationship with an
existing dealer at the behest of a competitor of the dealer, unless the
motive for the termination is predatory and anticompetitive. 3 The cases
are much less clear, however, as to the types of conduct and types of
arrangements which will be considered predatory and anticompetitive. In
Joseph E. Seagram & Sons, Inc. v. Hawaiian Oke & Liquors, Ltd.," the
court stated:

Surely a manufacturer and its national or regional distributor, whether a
subsidiary or an independent, can agree to transfer their business from one
wholesaler to another without running afoul of the group boycott per se
rule, in the absence of some forbidden anti-competitive or monopolistic
objective.

Under this analysis, it is motive and intent that determine whether the
conduct engaged in is legal or illegal under the Sherman Act. As motive
and intent are generally inferred from contemporaneous practices and the
defendant's business history with the plaintiff, the labelling of a rule as per
se does little to advance analysis. Because motive and intent may be
proved or disproved by circumstantial evidence, 5 a defendant should be

51. Id. at 43-44 (emphasis in the original).
52. The complaint charged a conspiracy to fix prices, allocate territories, and to confine

sales of merchandise to franchised dealers. The price fixing allegations were rejected at trial
and not appealed by the Government.

53. See, e.g., Ark Dental Supply Co. v. Cavitron Corp., 461 F.2d 1093 (3d Cir. 1972), aff'g
323 F. Supp. 1145 (E.D. Pa. 1971); Bushie v. Stenocord Corp., 460 F.2d 116, 120 (9th Cir.
1972); Alpha Distrib. Co. v. Jack Daniel Distillery, 454 F.2d 442 (9th Cir. 1972); Cartrade,
Inc. v. Ford Dealers Advertising Ass'n, 446 F.2d 289; 292-93 (9th Cir. 1971), cert. denied, 405
U.S. 997 (1972); Ricchetti v. Meister Brau, Inc., 431 F.2d 1211, 1214 (9th Cir. 1970), cert.
denied, 401 U.S. 939 (1971); Joseph E. Seagram & Sons, Inc. v. Hawaiian Oke & Liquors,
Ltd., 416 F.2d 71, 76 (9th Cir. 1969), cert. denied, 396 U.S. 1062 (1970); Scanlan v. Anheuser-
Busch, Inc., 388 F.2d 918, 921 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 391 U.S. 916 (1968); Overseas Motors,
Inc. v. Import Motors Inc., 5 TRADE REG. REP. (1974 Trade Cas.) 75,242 (E.D. Mich. Mar.
18, 1974); Varney v. Coleman Co., 5 TRADE REG. RP. (1974 Trade Cas.) 75,356 (D.N.H. Nov.
4, 1974); Beckman v. Walter Kidde & Co., 316 F. Supp. 1321 (E.D.N.Y. 1970), aff'd, 451 F.2d
593 (2d Cir. 1971), cert. denied, 408 U.S. 922 (1972); E. A. Weinel Constr. Co. v. Mueller Co.,
289 F. Supp. 293 (E.D. 11. 1968). But see DeFilippo v. Ford Motor Co., 5 TRADE REG. REP.
(1974 Trade Cas.) 75,210 (E.D. Pa. June 14, 1974).

54. 416 F.2d 71, 81-82 (9th Cir. 1969).
55. See Overseas Motors, Inc. v. Import Motors Inc., 5 TRADE REG. REP. (1974 Trade Cas.)

75,242, at 97,611 (E.D. Mich. Mar. 18, 1974); United States v. Jerrold Electronics Corp.,
187 F. Supp. 545, 567 (E.D. Pa. 1960). Cf. Hibner, Attempts to Monopolize: A Concept In
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able to introduce evidence going to the issue of "reasonableness" in order
to demonstrate that the motive and intent behind the conduct in issue was
for a justifiable business reason, and was not predatory or otherwise anti-
competitive. Evidence which would more logically be found in a state court
unfair competition or trade libel case will also be generally admissible to
prove or disprove unlawful exclusionary or monopolistic intent.

However, another rationale found in distributorship cancellation cases
is akin to a per se rule in reverse. The cases finding no unlawful intent often
add a reason in the nature of an alternative holding. The reason given is
that the effect on competition has remained unaffected where one distribu-
tor has been appointed and another excluded. In most of these cases, the
supplier has agreed with an existing distributor to grant an exclusive deal-
ership, and has, pursuant to this agreement, terminated sales to another
distributor. The market structure in these cases assumes that there are
numerous alternative sources of supply for distribution, and numerous
competing distributors engaged in selling reasonably interchangeable
goods. Based on these assumptions, the courts have concluded that the
elimination of the terminated distributor has not unreasonably lessened
competition in the market as a whole, and thus it has sustained the termi-
nation under the rule of reason.

Obviously, if it is the motive and intent of the supplier that is in issue,
the structure of the market as a whole after the substitution of one dealer
for another should be immaterial. If the structure of the marketplace after
the conduct was the test of illegality, motive and intent should be imma-
terial. Yet, in Klor's, we are told that it is the conduct rather than the
effect on the market that is the unreasonable restraint. As the Court
stated:

This combination . . . is not to be tolerated merely because the victim is
just one merchant whose business is so small that his destruction makes
little difference to the economy. Monopoly can as surely thrive by the
elimination of such small businessmen, one at a time, as it can by driving
them out in large groups. In recognition of this fact, the Sherman Act has
consistently been read to forbid all contracts and combinations which
"tend to create a monopoly" whether the "tendency is a creeping one" or
"one that proceeds at full gallop.""

Notwithstanding the holding of Klor's, the effect on competition or the
lack thereof has been a deciding force in determining that the cancellation
of a distributorship does not violate the Sherman Act. In fact, this argu-
ment generally appears in the same cases which hold that in order for the
conduct to be per se unlawful, it must be predatory or anti-competitive. A
leading case in which both lines of reasoning appear is Ace Beer Distribu-

Search of Analysis, 34 A.B.A. ANTITRUST L.J. 165, 168 n.20 (1967).
56. 359 U.S. at 213.
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tors, Inc. v. Kohn, Inc.57 In Ace Beer, the plaintiff, a distributor, brought
an action against one of its suppliers and a successor distributor appointed
after the plaintiff's termination. The plaintiff alleged that the defendants
maliciously conspired to destroy its business and to eliminate it as a beer
distributor in interstate commerce. The distributorship contract in issue
was one for an indefinite term, and subject to cancellation upon reasonable
notice. The defendant brewery had terminated the contract and appointed
Kohn as a new distributor. Kohn obtained a leasehold for new premises
and arranged to purchase new trucks. Upon the termination, a number of
salesmen and drivers formerly employed by plaintiff went to work for
Kohn. The Sixth Circuit affirmed the judgment on the pleadings entered
by the district court and cited two grounds. First, the plaintiff had not
alleged that the conspiracy resulted in "an unreasonable restraint," nor
had it alleged facts from which this could be inferred. Second, as the
eliminated distributor had been replaced, there was no effect on competi-
tion, and thus no unreasonable restraint of trade. In holding that there was
no unreasonable restraint of trade, the court stated:

The present case does not involve price fixing. Nor does it involve an
attempt to create a monopoly. The Stroh Brewery Company had one
distributor in the territory under consideration before it terminated the
plaintiff's franchise. It continued to have only one distributor thereafter.
There is no allegation or contention that the beer of other breweries was
not just as available in that area after the change in distributors as it was
before. . . The substitution of one distributor for another in a competi-
tive market of the kind herein involved does not eliminate or materially
diminish the existing competition of distributors of other beers, is not an
unusual businesg procedure, and, in our opinion, is not an unreasonable
restraint of trade.58

However, in a case involving an analogous factual situation, a different
result was reached. In Perryton Wholesale, Inc. v. Pioneer Distributing Co.
of Kansas,51 acts of unfair competition were held to be overt acts in further-
ance of a conspiracy in violation of section 1 of the Sherman Act. The
plaintiff and defendant were each rack jobbers. A long-time employee of
Pioneer, who had knowledge of its operations, routes and customers, be-
came sales manager for Perryton. Both before and after leaving Pioneer,
he tried to persuade other Pioneer employees to leave the company and to
bring to Perryton as much of the Pioneer business as possible. Several
Pioneer route salesmen left Pioneer and went to work for Perryton, calling
on the same customers in the same territory as they had done for their
former employer. Perryton urged that acts of unfair competition did not

57. 318 F.2d 283 (6th Cir. 1963).
58. Id. at 287. This analysis continues to be cited with approval. See, e.g., Oak Distrib.

Co. v. Miller Brewing Co., 370 F. Supp. 989 (E.D. Mich. 1973).
59. 353 F.2d 618 (10th Cir. 1965).
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suffice to establish a violation of section 1 of the Sherman Act. Although
Perryton also relied on Ace Beer, the court distinguished the case in affirm-
ing the trial court, and held that acts of unfair competition could in fact
constitute Sherman Act violations. The court Stated:

In our opinion the distributorship cases are not applicable here. The suc-
cess of the conspiracy in those cases resulted in the substitution of one
distributor for another. This changed the identity of a competitor but did
not eliminate competition. In the case at bar the intent of the conspiracy
was to eliminate the competitor predominant in the area by the subver-
sion of its employees. Such elimination destroys rather than maintains
competition, is an unreasonable restraint of trade, and violates the
statute.16

The analysis of Ace Beer, while being criticized by several commenta-
tors,' has been relied on in numerous decisions. For example, in Kirihara
v. Bendix Corp.,62 the court stated:

No anti-competitive motive for termination of Kirihara as their distribu-
tor, Bendix vis-a-vis Fram, or Bendix-Fram vis-a-vis Kirihara, can even
be inferred from the allegations. Plaintiff has pled, at best, no more than
an Ace Beer case ....

In both Ace Beer and Perryton Wholesale, the hiring away of employees
was involved. The distinction between the cases as found by the court in
Perryton Wholesale was that in Ace Beer, one distributor was substituted
for another, while in Perryton Wholesale, Pioneer continued to exist in the
market. It is submitted that if the meaning of Klor's is that anticompeti-
tive purpose must be found and that "public injury" need not be shown,
the court has relied on a distinction which is not a difference. Nevertheless,
the cases continue to cite Ace Beer for the proposition that where one
distributor is substituted for another, competition is not eliminated. A
similar analysis was used in Industrial Building Materials, Inc. v.
Interchemical Corp. 3 There, the manufacturer cancelled the plaintiff's
distributorship agreement and engaged in direct selling, in competition
with other lines of the former distributor. The manufacturer allegedly
engaged in acts of direct selling, price discrimination, and unfair competi-
tion. The plaintiff brought an action under sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman
Act and under section 2 of the Clayton Act, as amended by the Robinson-

60. 353 F.2d at 622.
61. See M. MrrcHELL, PLAINTIFF'S PROSECUTION OF FEDERAL TREBLE-DAMAGE AND INJUNC-

TION CASES, ANTITRUST ADVISOR (Hills ed. 1971). The vice of Ace Beer is that it has re-created
the "public injury" requirement which the Supreme Court eradicated in Klor's. Cf. E. TIM-
BERLAKE, FEDERAL TREBLE-DAMAGE ANTITRUST ACTIONS §15.03 (1965).

62. 306 F. Supp. 72 (D. Hawaii 1969). See cases cited in note 58, supra. See also Marder
v. Conwed Corp., 5 TRADE REG. REP. (1974 Trade Cas.) 75,341 (E.D. Pa. July 17, 1974).

63. 437 F.2d 1336 (9th Cir. 1971).
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Patman Act. In reversing the trial court's dismissal of the action, the Ninth
Circuit distinguished the line of cases holding that it is not a violation of
the Sherman Act where one distributor is substituted for another. The
court stated:

The appellee cites many cases for the proposition that a manufacturer is
free to agree with others to replace a distributor. In each of those cases,
however, the manufacturer did not enter into competition with the dis-
tributor, and there was no removal of a competitor of the manufacturer
from the market. In none of those cases did the agreement have an anti-
competitive purpose or effect. . . .When a distributor is replaced by
another, the public is given a substitute with no diminution in the number
of distributors offering services, but when the manufacturer enters the
field and then removes a distributor, the public is left with only the manu-
facturer instead of the manufacturer and the independent distributor.
Accomplishment of this anticompetitive objective by a manufacturer in a
dominant market position by means of conspiracy and unfair tactics must
surely be proscribed by the antitrust laws. 4

Such an analysis is no better than the analysis in Ace Beer that no
violation will occur where a substitution of a distributor has been made.
In Industrial Building Materials, the plaintiff continued to compete with
the manufacturer in the sale of sealants which were reasonably inter-
changeable in the same market. Thus, while the defendant may have
engaged in acts of unfair competition, it cannot be said categorically that
competition was necessarily reduced where a distributorship was can-
celled, and no new appointment made. Similarly, competition may be just
as much reduced where a distributorship has been substituted one for the
other. Recently, the Ninth Circuit placed Industrial Building Materials in
its proper context. In Knutsen v. The Daily Review, Inc. ," the plaintiffs,
independent newspaper dealers, brought an antitrust action against two
corporations engaged in the publishing of newspapers. Each plaintiff, as
an independent contractor, purchased newspapers from the defendants
and sold them to independent news carriers who in turn resold the newspa-
pers to home delivery subscribers. Thereafter, the defendants changed
their entire distribution system from one utilizing independent dealers to
one using their own employees. Plaintiffs cited Industrial Building
Materials for the proposition that the termination of the dealers was anti-
competitive in that it deprived the public of an independent competitive
level in the distribution of the newspapers and deprived the plaintiffs of
the market value of their business.6 In rejecting this analysis, the court of
appeals noted that Industrial Building Materials was a case "replete with

64. 437 F.2d at 1342.
65. 5 TRADE REG. REP. (1974 Trade Cas.) 75,273 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 23, 1974).
66. Id. at 97,802.
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allegations of price discrimination and unfair practices used . . to lure
customers from Industrial." The court stated that

[i]n framing the precise issue to be decided, the court noted that "[iun
this case, there is an allegation that Presstite, instead of merely refusing
to deal with Industrial, sought to drive it out of business by unlawful
means." . . . [Diefendants here engaged in no predatory conduct di-
rected against the dealers and never intended to compete against their
own dealers by instituting a mixed system for home delivery circulation
involving both independent dealers and employee district managers. 7

The same result was reached in Bushie v. Stenocord Corp.18 There the
Court upheld a summary judgment where the plaintiff failed to adduce
proof that the motivation for the termination of its distributorship was
anticompetitive.

As one commentator has noted, 9 the per se boycott cases have created
a dilemma. As stated in Ace Beer,7" "a refusal to deal becomes illegal under
the Act only when it produces an unreasonable restraint of trade." This is
almost a tautologous statement, and tells us nothing about the legality or
illegality of the questioned conduct. Unless the conduct in question would
be otherwise per se illegal under another rule, a rule of reason analysis is
still required. The proposition that all group boycott situations be deemed
"per se unlawful" should either be abandoned or redefined to "exclude the
possibly permissible situations."'" One commentator in an article written
before Klor's stated that the rule should be as follows:

Because all of these situations involve an agreement between two or more
persons under which one or more of them agree not to deal with third
persons and for that reason foreclose a part of the market to such third
persons, they are all subject to scrutiny under the antitrust laws. But in
the ordinary case these do not involve combining for the primary purpose
of coercing or excluding; rather they involve combinations of two or more
persons to further directly the business of the parties to the agreement,
and the effect on third parties and on competition is indirect. The issue
in these cases is not the existence or non-existence of concerted refusal to
deal, but rather whether the purpose and effect of the operation of the
contract, association, exchange or joint sales agency was such as unreason-
ably to exclude outsiders from participation in the trade in question. The
principle of the group boycott cases - that it is prima facia unreasonable
for a dominant group to combine to coerce - is not here applicable.72

67. Id. at 97,802-03.
68. 460 F.2d 116 (9th Cir. 1972).
69. P. AREEDA, ANTITRUST ANALYSIS: PROBLEMS, TEXT, CASES 287 (1967).
70. 318 F.2d at 286.
71. P. AREEDA, supra note 69, at 287.
72. Barber, Refusals To Deal Under The Federal Antitrust Laws, 103 U. PA. L. REv. 847,

877 (1955).
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The Supreme Court decision in Klor's was correct in determining that
the elimination of a small competitor in a competitive market with numer-
ous participants cannot be condoned. The suppression of competition by
clearly predatory means should violate the antitrust laws not because it
evidences a "monopolistic tendency," but because it tampers with the
existence of a free market. Accordingly, the test of legality should not be
whether the number of participants in the market is the same as, more
than, or less than the number that existed prior to the occurrence of the
complained of conduct. However, unless the conduct complained of would
be per se unlawful under traditional antitrust analyses, great caution
should be exercised in determining whether the conduct warrants the infer-
ence that it was "anticompetitive."" Where the cancellation or substitu-
tion of a distributor is the result of a supplier's attempt to police resale
price maintenance, or territorial, customer or competing product restric-
tions, antitrust liability and a resultant treble damage award may be ther-
apeutic. However, where lesser overt acts are involved, the conclusion that
the conduct evidences predatory intent contains an excessive margin for
error. In such cases, the trial courts have been justified in utilizing sum-
mary procedures, 7' Supreme Court admonitions to the contrary notwith-
standing.75 Every businessman is aware that the line between competitive
zeal and unfair practices is thin indeed. Without question, a would-be
distributor wishing to supplant a competitor may harbor considerable ill
will toward the rival. He may know that the former distributor will suffer
considerable economic loss, or even be forced out of the market altogether.
He may have actively "sold" himself to the manufacturer by making
claims about his own range of services and in so doing, undercut those of
his rival. His claims may or may not have constituted trade libel under
state law. However, his internal correspondence and memoranda may be
couched in terms that will appear damning if read in open court. Where a
change of distributors is imminent, it is not surprising that employees of
the rival will seek employment with the soon-to-be appointed distributor.
The evidence may be contradictory whether the employees were ap-
proached first by the new distributor. In addition, it is not surprising that
customers of the to-be-terminated distributor be solicited by the new dis-
tributor, or that many will switch allegiance. The above facts are consis-
tent with vigorous competition in a volatile market. By supplanting the
former distributor, by hiring available employees of the former distributor
and by attempting to switch the allegiance of its customers, competition

73. See Cooper, supra note 12, at 435.
74. Summary procedures have been widely used by the trial courts. Ace Beer itself arose

on a judgment on the pleadings. Of the cases cited in note 53, supra, only Hawaiian Oke was
the result of a jury verdict. Alpha Distributing Co. involved a trial by court. All of the others
were summary dismissals.

75. See, e.g., Poller v. Columbia Broadcasting System, Inc., 368 U.S. 464 (1962).
76. 5 TRADE RFG. REP. (1974 Trade Cas.) 75,242, at 97,611 (E.D. Mich. Mar. 18, 1974).
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should be enhanced. However, each of the above facts would also support,
although not compel, an inference of predatory or anticompetitive intent.
The margin for error in such a case is simply too great. Although such cases
fit the mold, it cannot be good law or judicial management to allow the
case to result in a treble damage windfall. As recently stated in Overseas
Motors, Inc. v. Import Motors Ltd. :,"

There is a limit, however, to the degree of indirection and innuendo which
the law will tolerate. Where, as here, the plaintiff's case is based entirely

.on such circumstantial evidence, the court must be especially vigilant to
insure that liberal modes of proof do not become the pretext for unfounded
speculation.

The trial courts have realized that the better approach is summary
disposition of such cases. In the absence of evidence of territory, customer,
product or price policing, summary disposition should be encouraged and
not inhibited. A viable antitrust complaint is too easy to plead, and the
pre-trial time and expense too vast to warrant otherwise. Such cases should
be relegated to the state courts and the law of unfair competition. This is
the message which the-trial courts have tried to communicate. Plaintiff's
counsel would be well advised to heed this message. All too often, they do
their clients as well as the courts a disservice by trying to embellish a state
law cause of action into a Sherman Act claim.

II. EMERGING THEORIES OF AGREEMENT AND COMBINATIONS- FROM Parke,
Davis To Albrecht AND BEYOND.

Section 1 of the Sherman Act" does not declare unlawful every restraint
of interstate trade and commerce. Only restraints resulting from a con-
tract, combination, or a conspiracy are covered. Although the three terms
have been used interchangeably through the years,"8 recent Supreme Court
decisions have indicated that each has embarked upon a separate evolu-
tionary path. A "contract" has been given the traditional legal meaning
of a formal or binding agreement."9 A "conspiracy" has been defined as a
"partnership in criminal purposes,"' 0 and as "an agreement to achieve
either an unlawful object, or a lawful object by unlawful means."'"

In the distributorship cancellation cases discussed above, an agreement
between the manufacturer and the new distributor is either present or
assumed." The inquiry is whether the motive of the act of termina-

77. 15 U.S.C. §1 (1970).
78. G. HAMPTON & D. HIBNER, HORIZONTAL RESTRAINTS OF TRADE-THE SHERMAN AcT,

ANTITRUST ADVISOR §28 (Hills ed. 1971); 1 VON KALINOWSKI, BUSINESS ORGANIZATIONS §6.01
(1974).

79. See authorities listed in note 78, supra.
80. United States v. Kissel, 218 U.S. 601, 608 (1910).
81. G. HAMPTON & D. HIBNER, supra note 78, at §2.9.
82. See, e.g., Joseph E. Seagram & Sons, Inc. v. Hawaiian Oke & Liquors, Ltd., 416 F.2d
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tion-the refusal to deal-was sufficiently anticompetitive to constitute an
unreasonable restraint of trade. Because the identical end result may be
either illegal or legal, depending on the intent of the parties, predictability
is low.8

However, with the Supreme Court decision in Parke, Davis, unpredicta-
bility was heightened. Until Parke, Davis, the term "combination" had
little if any separate existence from "conspiracy." In the more recent deci-
sion of Albrecht "combination" may have been extended to unprecedented
lengths, and made applicable to other types of cases involving vertical
restraints of trade. If Albrecht were to be followed literally, the requisite
"plurality"84 could arguably be satisfied by commercial interaction be-
tween a supplier and a dealer which results in an unreasonable restraint
of trade, or even between the supplier and customers of the dealer. Any
requirement of common purpose as knowledge by dealers or customers of
the coercive intent of the supplier would be unnecessary. In order to fit the
facts to the desired result, any requirement of common purpose or design
may be implied, the quantum of proof being influenced by the structure
of the market in which the restraint occurs. 5 As in the substitution cases,
it is doubtful whether treble damages should be dependent upon a deter-
mination of the subjective intent, particularly that of the persons with
whom the supplier may have "combined."

Any analysis of evolving or "alternative theories of conspiracy" is trace-
able to the Colgate doctrine and its Parke, Davis exceptions.

As stated in Parke, Davis:

It must be admitted that a seller's announcement that he will not deal
with customers who do not observe his policy may tend to engender con-
fidence in each customer that if he complies his competitors will also. But
if a manufacturer is unwilling to rely on individual self-interest to bring
about general voluntary acquiescence which has the collateral effect of
eliminating price competition, and takes affirmative action to achieve
uniform adherence by inducing each customer to adhere to avoid such

71 (9th Cir. 1969), cert. denied, 396 U.S. 1062 (1970); Packard Motor Car Co. v. Webster
Motor Car Co., 243 F.2d 418, 421 (D.C. Cir. 1957), cert. denied, 355 U.S. 822 (1957).

83. Compare Klein v. American Luggage Works, Inc., 323 F.2d 787, 791 (3d Cir. 1963) with
Girardi v. Gates Rubber Co., 325 F.2d 196, 199 (9th Cir. 1963). See also Carbon Steel Products
Corp. v. Alan Wood Steel Co., 289 F. Supp. 584, 588 (S.D.N.Y. 1968).

84. See 1 VON KALINOWSKI, BuswFss ORGANIZATIONS §6.01[2] (1974).
85. See United States v. Container Corp. of America, 393 U.S. 333 (1969). The Court

noted that the corrugated container industry was dominated by few sellers, that the product
was fungible, and that capacity exceeded demand. It also noted that even with excess capac-
ity and a downward trend of prices, the industry was expanding. It is unclear whether other-
wise harmful conduct is "unreasonable" in an oligopolistic market, or whether stronger infer-
ences of agreement may be drawn because of oligopolistic "interdependence" in decision
making. See Day, New Theories Of Agreement And Combination, 42 A.B.A. ANrrrRUST L. J.
287, 291 (1973). See generally, Hibner, Oligopoly Under Attack: New Approaches To An Old
Problem, 44 ST. JOHN'S LAW REv. 743 (special ed. 1970).
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price competition, the customers' acquiescence is not then a matter of
individual free choice prompted alone by the desirability of the product.
The product then comes packaged in a competition-free wrapping - a
valuable feature in itself - by virtue of concerted action induced by the
manufacturer. The manufacturer is thus the organizer of a price-
maintenance combination or conspiracy in violation of the Sherman Act."

The difficulty, of course, is that the legality of the result "organized" by
the manufacturer is a function of the subjective state of mind not only of
the manufacturer in inducing acquiescence, but of the aquiescing buyer as
well. Where the buyer acquiesces because he subjectively knows that he
can pass on the manufacturer's announced resale price, or that he wants
the goods and cares not what other dealers do, no unlawful combination
or conspiracy should result. If the announced refusal to deal except on the
manufacturer's terms is such that the dealer must acquiesce, regardless of
the actions of others, no liability should result. Surely, this is but a defini-
tion of the Colgate doctrine, cited with limited approval in Schwinn. It is
difficult to argue, therefore, that the result should be the opposite where,
in addition to fearing termination, the dealer believes that each of the
other dealers will do likewise. However, in Parke, Davis, the conduct com-
plained of was not a refusal to deal with price-cutting wholesalers or retail-
ers. These activities would have been lawful under Colgate. The "combina-
tion" was in refusing to deal with wholesalers who dealt with price-cutting
retailers. Mr. Justice Brennan stated:

In thus involving the wholesalers to stop the flow of Parke Davis products
to the retailers, thereby inducing retailers' adherence to its suggested
retail prices, Parke Davis created a combination with the retailers and the
wholesalers to maintain retail prices and violated the Sherman Act."

If the distinction between unilaterally refusing to deal with price-cutting
wholesalers and retailers and refusing to deal with wholesalers dealing with
price-cutting retailers is to be at all meaningful, legality must turn on a
factor other than agreement. As noted by Professor Turner:

[Ilt is difficult if not impossible even for a lawyer to understand why
acquiescence induced by a refusal to deal for one reason (selling to price-
cutting retailers) should make the conduct any more an "agreement" than
is acquiescence induced by a refusal to sell for a different reason (selling
below the manufacturer's suggested price).8

This conclusion is supported by another portion of the Parke, Davis opin-
ion:

86. 362 U.s. at 46-47.
87. Id. at 45.
88. Turner, The Definition Of Agreement Under The Sherman Act: Conscious Parallelism

And Refusals To Deal, 75 HAsv. L. Rzv. 655, 686 (1962).

[Vol. 26



VERTICAL RESTRAINTS

The Sherman Act forbids combinations of traders to suppress competi-
tion. True, there results the same economic effect as is accomplished by
a prohibited combination to suppress price competition if each customer,
although induced to do so solely by a manufacturer's announced policy,
independently decides to observe specified resale prices. So long as
Colgate is not overruled, this result is tolerated but only when it is the
consequence of a mere refusal to sell in the exercise of the manufacturer's
right "freely to exercise his own independent discretion as to parties with
whom he will deal." When the manufacturer's actions, as here, go beyond
mere announcement of his policy and the simple refusal to deal, and he
employs other means which effect adherence to his resale prices, this
countervailing consideration is not present and therefore he has put to-
gether a combination in violation of the Sherman Act."

Although unarticulated, the "combination" may be that Parke, Davis used
its own announcement of policy to trigger conduct by its wholesalers
against third parties - the retailers in which it was not in privity. At least
in this sense, parties "combined" to impose restraints upon the market
conduct of others.

This analysis receives some support from the Supreme Court's decision
in Albrecht. There, the defendant published a newspaper which was dis-
tributed by independent carriers. The carriers purchased papers and sold
them at retail. The newspaper advertised a suggested retail price, and
reserved the right to compete with any carrier charging higher prices. 0

When plaintiff, a carrier, did so, he was informed by the newspaper that
it would deliver the paper in his territory at a lower price. In addition, it
hired a circulation company to solicit new customers. It continued to sell
to plaintiff but warned him that should he continue to overcharge, it would
refuse to do so. A new dealer was appointed to service the new customers.
The new dealer was informed that he must not overcharge, and that plain-
tiff could have the route if he discontinued his pricing practices. When
offered back the route on the original terms, he filed suit under the Sher-
man Act. In response, he was terminated.

At the close of trial, plaintiff amended the complaint to allege a combi-
nation between the newspaper and plaintiffs customers, the customers
and the cirulation company and/or the new dealer. The jury found for the
newspaper and the trial court denied plaintiffs motion for judgment not-
withstanding the verdict. The court of appeals held that the act of termina-
tion was unilateral and Colgate protected." The Supreme Court reversed,
on the grounds that the publisher had formed an unlawful combination by
employing an outsider to solicit plaintiffs customers and by giving three

89. 362 U.s. at 44 (emphasis added).
90. The facts of the case also involved assigned exclusive territories. 390 U.S. at 145.
91. Albrecht v. Herald Co., 367 F.2d 517 (8th Cir. 1966). It also held that the grant of an

exclusive territory on the announced condition that suggested maximum prices be charged
was lawful under the rule of reason.
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hundred solicited accounts over to a new carrier before it terminated the
plaintiff. If the plaintiff had alleged a combination or conspiracy between
the newspaper and the circulation company or the newspaper and the new
dealer, the case would have been easily decided by the traditional antitrust
analysis." The newspaper clearly used the circulation company to solicit
plaintiff's customers, and established a new dealer for the announced pur-
pose of policing its maximum pricing policy. Plaintiff was aware that
should it agree to charge the suggested maximum price, he would be rein-
stated. No new principle of antitrust law would have been necessary to
decide the case. The case clearly involved an "aggregation of . . . re-
straints" condemned by the Court in United States v. Sealy, Inc.93 How-
ever, as the Supreme Court specifically noted:

At the close of the evidence the complaint was amended to charge only a
combination between respondent and plaintiffs customers and/or Milne
Circulation Sales, Inc. and/or George Kroner."

Similarly, the plaintiff could have alleged a contract in unreasonable
restraint of trade. Plaintiff was party to a written agreement not to exceed
the suggested resale price in his assigned territory. 5 Surely the policing of
a price fixing agreement would violate the Sherman Act without belabor-
ing the precise nature of a "combination."

In affirming the trial court, Eighth Circuit noted that the newspaper's
conduct did not fit the usual definition of a "combination." ' , This was
stated to be "the union or association of two or more persons for the
attainment of some common end."97 The Supreme Court, however, was
undeterred. In sustaining plaintiffs theory of his amendment to the com-
plaint, the Court gratuitously offered still additional theories of liability.
The Court suggested a combination between plaintiff and defendant "at
least as of the day [plaintiff] unwillingly complied with respondent's
advertised price," a combination between the newspaper and other car-
riers, "because the firmly enforced policy applied to all carriers, most of
whom acquiesced in it," and a combination between the newspaper and
plaintiff's customers."

If the Supreme Court's dicta were to be taken at face value, a "combina-
tion" would result in any case where a supplier enforced a vertically-
imposed restraint by means other than a simple refusal to deal. Were this
so, any notion that agreement or conspiracy is an element of a Sherman
Act section 1 violation would be of but historical interest.

92. See Day, supra note 85, at 301.
93. United States v. Sealy, Inc., 388 U.S. 350, 354 (1967).
94. 390 U.S. at 148.
95. Albrecht v. Herald Co., 367 F.2d 517, 518 n.1 (8th Cir. 1966).
96. Id. at 523.
97. Id.
98. 390 U.S. at 150 n.6.
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Further confusion was created in Perma Life Mufflers, Inc. v. Interna-
tional Parts Corp." There the separate concepts articulated in Albrecht
were in some degree papered over. The court of appeals had held in the
alternative that the Sherman Act claim should be dismissed because res-
pondents were all part of a single business entity and were entitled to
cooperate without creating an illegal conspiracy. In rejecting this holding
the Supreme Court went on to say:

In any event each petitioner can clearly charge a combination between
Midas and himself, as of the day he unwillingly complied with the restric-
tive franchise agreements, or between Midas and other franchise dealers,
whose acquiescence in Midas' firmly enforced restraints was induced by
"the communicated danger of termination."10

The Court went on to term these "combinations" as "alternative theories
of conspiracy." 01

Based upon Perma Life, the terms "contract, combinations . . . or con-
spiracy" may again be synonomous. The first "combination" suggested by
the Court may be no more than a vertically-imposed illegal agreement
coercively enforced. The Court seems to make the obvious point that con-
spiracies need not always be horizontal. The second suggested "combina-
tion"-between Midas and other franchise dealers-is perhaps nothing
more than a reference to Parke, Davis. What is enigmatic is the Court's
references to the suggested forms of combinations as "theories of conspir-
acy."o2

Although the cases described above add little to clarity, the enigma may
be of little import in the real world. In each case, conventional analysis
would have found liability under section 1. A finding of agreement ex-
pressed and implied in fact would have been supported by the evidence.
In both Albrecht and Perma Life, the discussion of "combinations" was
therefore unnecessary. Here lies the problem. The plethora of rules, dis-
tinctions and caveats make it difficult both for clients, courts and practi-
tioners. The Supreme Court has been unable to enunciate a meaningful
test to distinguish between lawful conduct, unlawful "agreements" im-
plied either in law or fact, and "combination," to the extent that they have
a separate existence. However, where resale price maintenance, territorial
exclusivity, or customer or product restrictions are in the factual fabric of
a given case, the niceties of labelling will not dispel the fact that a busi-
nessman acts at his peril. Liability is the likely result. For this area, analy-
sis is more post-mortem than prophylactic.

99. 392 U.S. 134 (1968). Mr. Justice Black wrote an opinion expressing the views of four
members of the Court. Four separate opinions, three concurring, and one concurring in part
and dissenting in part were filed.

100. Id. at 142.
101. Id.
102. Id.
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III. CONCLUSION

The law of vertical restraints has had a most imperfect development.
Pronouncements of the Supreme Court have been overly broad, misunder-
stood and misapplied. In the distributor cancellation cases unjust results
may occur unless the per se language of Klor's is limited to cases where
the conduct in question relates to price-fixing, division of markets or allo-
cation of customers. Cases involving lesser forms of "anticompetitive" con-
duct should be brought as unfair competition cases, not as Sherman Act
cases. An analysis of the cancellation cases discloses that a surprising
number are disposed of short of trial.'13 Even in light of strong Supreme
Court pronouncements, it is expected that this trend will continue.

Other refusal to deal cases cannot be explained or reconciled by applying
logical tests of agreement, combination or conspiracy. Two warring con-
cepts, both laudable in single perspective, have collided. No synthesizing
principle has emerged from the wreckage. Whatever the conceptual differ-
ences may be, agreement, combination and conspiracy each require a plu-
rality of actors consciously and deliberately working together for a mutual
end. To hold otherwise simply does too much damage to the Sherman Act
as we know it. Rather than look to mere plurality of interacting entities,
courts should still require an agreement. In most fact situations, the result
would be unchanged, as an "agreement" may be inferred from a course of
conduct. However, the agreement should be reasonably inferable from
facts introduced by proper applications of the rules of evidence. Agreement
should not be assumed or presumed on the ground that unless it is present,
there can be no liability. The Supreme Court decisions discussed in this
article, while not assuming the conclusion, surely grant a license to do so.
Until the law is clarified, if it ever is, practitioners will be well advised to
assume that Colgate is either overruled, limited to its precise facts, or
cannot be complied with at all in the modern world. Practioners should
also assume that the substitution of one dealer for another must be able
to withstand an almost ecclesiastical scrutiny as to the motives and con-
duct involved. The possibility of a treble damage action, the expense of
trial preparation, and the possibility of a treble damage verdict warrant
such inquiry.

103. See note 74, supra. See also Greenberg, supra note 13, at 313 n.43.
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